of 9-11.89

017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SH

JUN 6 1989 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

THOMAS WAYNE SLAUGHTER, :

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 73,743

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SAUNDERS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR #308846
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

Section 794.012, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041, Fla. Stat.	20 20, 23
Section 794.012, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041(2)(b), Fla. Stat.	20 20, 23 17
Section 794.012, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Section 826.04, Fla. Stat.	20 20, 23 17
Section 794.012, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Section 826.04, Fla. Stat. MISCELLANEOUS	20 20, 23 17 23
Section 794.012, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041, Fla. Stat. Section 794.041(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Section 826.04, Fla. Stat. MISCELLANEOUS Art. I, Sec. 10, Fla. Const.	20 20, 23 17 23

25, 26

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS WAYNE SLAUGHTER,

Petitioner,

V.

CASE NO. 73,743

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, THOMAS WAYNE SLAUGHTER, was the defendant in the trial court and appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and the appellee, respectively. The parties will be referred to in this brief as they appear before this Court.

The record on appeal consists of one volume of pleadings which will be referred to in this brief as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. The transcripts of the proceedings in the lower court, including the transcript of the motion hearing on October 1, 1987 and the trial proceedings on December 7, 10 and 11, 1987, will be referred to herein as "T." The transcript of the sentencing proceeding on January 6, 1988, and the transcript of the jury selection on December 7, 1987, are consecutively numbered the same. For the sake of clarity, all references to the sentencing hearing will be designated as "S."

The opinion of the court below is attached hereto as an appendix. The appendix will be referred to as "A."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed April 8, 1987, petitioner was charged with sexual battery of K by oral and vaginal penetration with the use of or threat to use a deadly weapon, to wit: a butcher knife (Count I), and with sexual battery of K S by use of familial or custodial authority (Count 11), which offenses allegedly occurred in August of 1985 (R 9). The information was amended on June 4, 1987, by adding a third count charging petitioner with a lewd and lascivious assault on K bet 1 and 1985 (R 16

Petitioner proceeded to trial on the amended information on September 1, 1987. The trial court granted a judgment of acquittal as to Count I, alleging sexual battery with the use or threat of a deadly weapon, and reduced the charge to sexual battery by use of force not likely to cause serious personal injury (R 28). The jury was unable to reach a verdict, and a mistrial was declared (R 38, 47; T 445).

Following the mistrial, the state filed a second amended information, charging petitioner with the lewd and lascivious assault (Count I), three counts of sexual battery by use of force not likely to cause serious personal injury (Counts 11, III and IV), two counts of sexual battery by use of familial or custodial authority (Counts V and VI), aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, a knife (Count VIII), and one count of incest by i.g. in ; intercourse t Karana Samuel 3, natural daughter (Count VIII) (R 42-43).

Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss Counts I, 111, IV, VI, VII and VIII of the amended information, alleging that Count I was barred by the statute of limitations and that the remaining five counts were the result of prosecutorial vindictiveness (R 47-51). Following a hearing on October 1, 1987, the trial court dismissed Count I and upheld the second amended information with regard to the remaining counts, but agreed to limit petitioner's sentence, if convicted, to the recommended guidelines range to which petitioner would be exposed under the original information, unless the court found reasons to depart (R 57; T 444-480).

Following the dismissal of the lewd and lascivious charge in Count I, the state filed its notice of intent to introduce collateral crime evidence that between approximately 1975 and 1985, petitioner committed multiple acts of lewd and lascivious assault upon Karana Samuel (R 58).

Petitioner's second trial also resulted in a mistrial (T 5-6, 37, 228-229). Petitioner proceeded to trial for the third time on December 10-11, 1987, at the conclusion of which, the jury returned verdicts of guilt on all counts as charged (R 86-87; T 341-344).

Petitioner was sentenced on January 6, 1988. After much confusion and discussion as the appropriate sentence vis-a-vis the trial court's ruling on petitioner's motion to dismiss, the court adjudicated petitioner guilty and sentenced him to a term of 15 years on Count 11, and to concurrent terms of 15 years on Counts 111, IV, V, VI and VII, which sentences were ordered to

run consecutive to the sentence on Count I, and to a concurrent term of five years on Count VIII, with credit for 293 days time served on all counts (R 88-104; S 425-231).

Petitioner timely appealed to the First District Court of Appeal (R 107). In his appeal, petitioner argued, <u>inter alia</u>, that the trial court erred in imposing multiple punishments for the commission of crimes which were grounded upon a single act, in violation of this Court's holding in <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987). He further argued that the court erred in allowing the state to introduce as similar fact evidence the victim's testimony that petitioner committed various lewd and lascivious assaults upon her for ten years prior to the commission of the instant offenses. Finally, petitioner argued that his sentencing guidelines scoresheet, assessing 100 points for victim injury, was improper because on the date his crimes were committed in August, 1985, the guidelines did not allow victim injury to be scored for each count in a single criminal episode and the 1986 rule change could not be applied retroactively.

On February 1, 1989, the District Court issued its opinion rejecting each argument and affirming petitioner's convictions, but reversing the sentences because the trial court relied upon an erroneous scoresheet in imposing a purported departure sentence. Slaughter v. State, 538 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). A timely notice of discretionary review was filed on February 20, 1989, and this Court accepted jurisdiction by order dated May 12, 1989. This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

is a 16 year old tenth grader, who is a cheerleader and active in school and church youth groups. lives with her mother and stepfather. Petitioner is her father (T 33-34). Her parents divorced when K was three or four years old. recalled that prior to their divorce, her mother worked nights, and her father would put her in bed with him and would fondle her breasts and between her legs (T 34-36, 40-41). Kan saw her father sporadically after the divorce. Petitioner would take her to Cedar Key to his parents, and they would share a bedroom. One night when was 13, she woke up to find her father trying to remove her clothes. He fondled her breasts and vaginal area and threatened to hurt her and her mother if she told on him (T 42-44). On another occasion when was ten, she visited her father and his wife Penny in Otter Springs and petitioner again fondled her in the same area (T 44-46). Keeping visited her father in Lake Butler when she was 13 and her father was married to Gail, but petitioner never touched her on those visits (T 46-47).

In the summer of 1985, Kernell visited her father at the home of her uncle Gordon and his wife, Nancy. She was 14. Her cousin, Markell accompanied her on the visits. One day Gordon and Nancy went to Cedar Key and left Kernell and Markell and went alone with petitioner. Kernell and Markell had a fight, and went to bed. Kernell stayed up with her father talking. When said she was going to bed, Slaughter said he wanted to talk, and Kernell went into her father sbedroom. Petitioner

told her he loved her and would never do anything to hurt her. He hugged her, then ripped open her shirt, and kissed her neck and chest and subsequently removed her pants and tied her hands and legs to the bed. He then went to the closet and gave her a shot in the arm and applied electric shocks to her stomach and legs. He inserted a neon pipe into Karamana vagina. He next put a cream in her and penetrated her vaginally with his penis. Petitioner then untied Karamana hands and legs and made her sit on him, penetrating her again. He also forced her to perform oral sex on him (T 47-55).

Petitioner then took a knife, put it to know throat and down her body, and told her that was what would happen if she ever told. She remained in the room for a while and then went to Markov room. Markov was still asleep. Nancy and Gordon returned later that day, and petitioner drove Know and Markov home (T 55-57).

never told Manage what happened because she was afraid. In fact, Karamandid not tell anyone for over a year. She first told her boyfriend, Ramandam and then confided in her guidance counselor, Ms. Blalock. A week later she told her mother (T57-58).

On cross-examination admitted telling Remarks her mother, the prosecutor and a deputy that the offenses occurred in August of 1986, a week before school started. When she had a gynecological examination in February of 1986, Karana told the doctor that she never had sexual intercourse (T 62-64).

Manager remembered going with Karama to Gordon's and Nancy's trailer during the summer of 1985. She remembered the year because the two girls were in a beauty contest in the watermelon festival. They put up a tent one night and the next day Gordon and Nancy left. Manager did not know where Karama slept that night while Nancy and Gordon were gone (T83-86).

mother, and petitioner were divorced when Mass four. Ms. Hand had custody of Radiana, but petitioner had liberal visitation rights. When K was 13 she would become quiet and withdrawn after visiting her father, staying in her bedroom for hours listening to her stereo. She was normally a very active and outgoing child, participating in sports, beauty pageants, and church and school activities. She did not want to visit her father alone and wanted Manager to go with her (T 87-88, 90-92). Participated in the beauty pageant at the watermelon festival in the summer of 1985. also spent a lot of time that summer with her father, who was then living with his brother, Gordon, and sister-in-law, Nancy. During the 1985-1986 academic year, killing began experiencing abdominal pains and was hospitalized for ten days: there was no medical explanation for her pain, and the doctor suggested that Kanana go into therapy. Ms. Banana did not follow the doctor's advice (T 92-93, 95-96). Remarks saw petitioner twice after that summer, once in June of 1986, at Gordon's and Nancy's new home in Inverness, and again in December of 1986, in Cedar Key.

In February, 1986, petitioner visited K in the hospital (R 96-98).

the winter of 1986 because of abdominal pains. Ms. Blalock saw her again when friends brought Karaman to her office. At that time Karaman was too upset to talk; she was crying and shaking and Ms. Blalock encouraged her to come back any time she wanted to talk. A week later, karaman back to Blalock's office and told the counselor that she had been sexually abused by her father when her mother was working at night. Blalock advised Karaman to tell her mother immediately. Blalock had to inform Ms. Blalock what she learned from Karaman and recommended that Karaman get professional counseling (T 111-113).

Louis Legum was qualified as an expert in psychology and testified that he did a psychological evaluation of Karaman in October, 1987. He determined that Karaman was of low average intelligence and an underachiever for her age. Legum diagnosed her as suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder, an over-anxiety disorder, and severe depression. He found Karaman to be a very complicated child: although she was externally poised and composed, she was in emotional turmoil. He sensed that she had been depressed most of her life. Karaman shipping profile was highly unusual, suggesting that she was either psychotic or malingering or in a great deal of emotional distress. Karaman exhibited some of the common symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder, including reexperiencing the trauma, a psychological numbness, and hypervigilance (T 116-120, 125-132, 152-158).

Dr. Gilda Josephson, a psychotherapist with special training in child sexual abuse (T166-193), testified that she first saw Karaman in February, 1987, and continued seeing her on a weekly basis. Josephson diagnosed Karaman as suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder and stated that Karaman had all the common symptoms, such as reexperiencing the trauma through flashbacks and nightmares, regressive behavior, avoidance and numbing symptoms, lack of trust, startle reflex, amnesia, lack of concentration and psychosomatic symptoms such as undiagnosed illnesses (T 193-200, 205-206).

The state and defense stipulated into evidence the medical records of Karanana (T 214, 224).

The state rested (T 227). Petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal, which motion was denied (T 227-228).

Four witnesses testified for the defense.

Gordon Slaughter, petitioner's brother, testified that he lived in Alachua County in 1985. Petitioner had hip replacement surgery in February of that year and another operation in June. He was released from the hospital the first of July: his physical condition was very poor. He used crutches and was not able to bend. Slaughter was trying to sell his home at the time; he moved his furniture out of the house on August 2, 1985, and he vacated the home on August 7. Petitioner lived with Slaughter and his wife from the end of April until the last week of July, 1985 (T 230-232).

Slaughter testified that after petitioner got out of the hospital, Kanada and Market visited him in the Slaughter's

home. They did not visit him that August because there was no furniture in the home and the Slaughters moved. Slaughter said he never went to Cedar Key in the summer of 1985 and never left overnight while the girls were visiting. He thought petitioner and Karaman had a good relationship; she was crazy about her father and seemed to enjoy his company. Karaman visited again in the summer of 1986 at Slaughter's new home and never seemed fearful of petitioner (T 233-239).

Nancy Slaughter stated that petitioner lived with her and Gordon after his hip surgery in June. He moved slowly with the aid of crutches and was on pain medication. The Slaughters were in the process of selling their trailer and building a new home that summer and things were hectic. They moved their furniture on August 2, leaving only a bed, a television and some pots and K and M would stay in the guest pans (T 242-244). bedroom when they came to visit. Nancy remembered helping the girls set up a tent during the summer of 1985. She stated that the girls did not come often and she enjoyed their company, and she would never leave them when they were visiting. She denied going to Cedar Key overnight that summer. She said K mother never called her about leaving the girls alone at their She called Jan 8 one time about taking the girls to Dunnellon, where they were building their new home. The girls had other plans and did not go, but Nancy and Gordon were home by nighttime. Nancy described her brother-in-law's relationship with Karamanas a loving father-daughter relationship and said she never saw any tension or friction between them. Petitioner

and Kanana and Market visited the Slaughters in Dunnellon in the summer of 1986, and Nancy did not observe anything unusual between Kanana and her father (T 246-249, 251).

Petitioner's aunt, Victoria Walker, lived in Cedar Key and remembered that Gordon and Nancy did not visit in the summer of 1985 because they were selling their home and needed to be home in case a potential buyer called. That upset her because they used to visit her frequently. Petitioner, Kernell and Visited her after that summer. Ms. Walker said Kernell did not appear afraid of petitioner; in fact, she always clung to him, and they seemed very devoted to each other (T 252-254).

Petitioner testified that he was 38 years old. He worked as a correctional officer at UCI for seven years until the time of his arrest. He denied ever fondling or touching his daughter in a lewd or lascivious manner before or after his divorce from Mother. He said he loved his daughter and, in fact, had asked to come live with him and his wife, Gail. He called Jan about it, and she threatened to kill him if he ever tried to get custody of Karana (T 255-258). Petitioner had back surgery in 1983 and two hip operations in 1985, one in February, and the second in June. He was hospitalized ten days and then moved back with Gordon and Nancy until they moved. He was in a great deal of pain after the surgery and used crutches to get around (T 258-261).

Manual and Manual visited petitioner in July at Gordon and Nancy's trailer. He remembered the girls setting up a tent and said Gordon and Nancy never left overnight while the girls

were there. Petitioner denied raping his daughter. He saw her at Christmas and took her to Gordon's home several times after that summer, and kind mever appeared to be afraid of him (T 261-262).

Petitioner's medical records were introduced into evidence (T 265-266). The defense rested (T 266).

Jet B was recalled on rebuttal and testified, over the defense's objection, that she and her sister, Member, were concerned about the girls visiting petitioner that summer because she was aware that Gordon and Nancy were going away one night. She talked to Nancy to make sure it was okay if the two girls were there alone with petitioner (T 268-270).

The state rested (T270), and petitioner's renewed motions for judgment of acquittal were denied (T271, 325).

Following closing arguments (T 272-324), and instructions on the law (T 327-339), the jury retired to deliberate and then returned with its verdicts as noted above.

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner contends in this brief that the decision of the lower court, affirming petitioner's convictions and sentences for vaginal sexual battery with slight force and vaginal sexual battery by familial authority, and for oral sexual battery with slight force and oral sexual battery by familial authority, and incest, is contrary to this Court's holding in Carawan v. State and subsequent cases. Although each offense contains an element that the other does not, the legislature did not intend to permit multiple punishments for a single act of sexual intercourse by vaginal penetration or a single act of sexual intercourse by oral penetration. Petitioner's convictions and sentences for two counts of sexual battery by slight force and incest must be vacated.

In Issue 11, petitioner contends that assessment of points for victim injury on the guidelines scoresheet for each offense in one criminal episode or transaction constituted an ex post facto violation, because the instant offenses occurred prior to the effective date of the rule change authorizing the scoring of victim injury for each count as to each victim.

In the final issue petitioner argues that the introduction of similar fact evidence was error since the collateral crimes were not relevant to any material fact in issue, and there was no independent evidence to establish the prior bad acts or to corroborate the victim's testimony. Therefore, the evidence of the lewd and lascivious assaults was not admissible and could only serve to prejudice the jury against petitioner.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

PETITIONER WAS IMPROPERLY CONVICTED OF MULTIPLE CRIMINAL OFFENSES BASED UPON A SINGLE ACT.

Petitioner was convicted of the sexual battery of K

Section per vaginal-penile intercourse by slight force (Count
11), sexual battery per vaginal-penile intercourse by a person
in familial authority (CountV), and incest per sexual intercourse with his natural daughter (CountVIII). In addition, he
was convicted of sexual battery per oral-penile penetration by
slight force (Count IV) and sexual battery per oral penetration
by a person in familial authority (CountVI). Petitioner urges
that his triple convictions for the single act of vaginal penetration and his dual convictions for a single act of oral penetration are contrary to the legislative intent and violate the
principles of Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and
State v. Crumley, 512 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1987).

In <u>Carawan v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that a defendant could not be convicted and sentenced for both attempted manslaughter and aggravated battery, where both offenses were predicated on a single underlying act, a single shotgun blast directed at one victim. The Court reasoned that the test set

^{&#}x27;Petitioner has not challenged his convictions and sentences for sexual battery by putting an object inside the victim's vagina (Count 111) or aggravated battery by touching the victim with a knife (Count VII).

out in <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, **284** U.S. 299 (1932), and codified in Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1983), was a rule of statutory construction that could not be used to defeat the legislative intent. Where there is any reasonable basis for concluding that multiple punishments were not intended by the legislature, the rule of lenity embodied in Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes, forbids multiple punishments. The Court concluded that the two offenses were addressing essentially the same evil, and the legislature did not intend to punish them separately. The rule of lenity, therefore, must be construed in favor of the accused.

In <u>State v. Crumley</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court held that aggravated battery and battery on a law enforcement officer could not be punished separately because both addressed the same evil. The same should be true of sexual battery of a daughter by familial authority and sexual battery of the daughter with slight force, where both offenses are predicated upon a single act.

In its opinion, the District Court held that the court was not prohibited from imposing judgments and sentences for sexual battery by slight force (Count 11) and sexual battery by a person in familial authority (Count V), since petitioner committed two discrete acts of vaginal intercourse upon the victim. With regard to incest (Count VIII) and sexual battery by a person in familial authority, the District Court reasoned that the incest and sexual battery statutes addressed separate evils, and each offense required proof of a fact that the other does not, thus the presumption under <u>Blockburger</u> applied. With regard to the

two counts of oral sexual battery (Counts IV and VI), the lower court held that because the statutes do not contain any express statement of intent, the <u>Blockburger</u> test applied and concluded that because Sections 794.011(5) and 794.041(2)(b) each require proof of a fact that the other does not, they address separate evils, and thus multiple punishments are permissible (A 2-4).

In <u>Carawan</u>, the Court dealt with a situation were it could not be said with certainty what the legislature intended. This Court treated <u>Blockburger</u> as the first step in its analysis to determine what the legislature intended and said that it would be absurd to apply <u>Blockburger</u> so as to defeat what reason and logic dictate to be the intent. The opinion below misconstrues <u>Carawan</u> by relying solely on a <u>Blockburger</u> analysis to reach a result contrary to that indicated by the rule of lenity because the Court found no express legislative intent.

As explained in Crumley, supra, at 184-185:

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