0A 9.11.89

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# THOMAS WAYNE SLAUGHTER.

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 73,743

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.



# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTØRNEY GENERAL

A. E. (NED) POOSER, IV ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #183336

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I: The offenses of sexual battery by force, sexual activity by a person in a familial or custodial authority, and incest are separate offenses, each containing an element that the other does not. Therefore, application of the "Blockburger" rule ends the inquiry and resolves the case, e.g., petitioner was properly charged and convicted of each such offense arising out of a single act.

Issue 11: The 1985 Amendment to the Committee Note to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(7) merely clarified that rule, not changed it; therefore, the trial court's assessment of a total of 100 points for victim injury do not violate the ex post facto clause of the United States Constitution.

Issue 111: Petitioner did not timely object at trial to the introduction of similar fact evidence and, therefore, has not preserved the issue for review. But, in any event, the similar fact evidence was relevant to corroborate the testimony of the victim, and did not become a feature of the case.

- 4 -

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

PETITIONER'S MULTIPLE CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES FOR HIS VARIOUS SEX ACTS ARE PROPER.

Slaughter sexually assaulted his natural daughter by twice raping her, once forcing her to perform oral sex on him and once by inserting an object into her vagina. While he does not challenge his conviction and sentence for sexual battery by use of an object, he does claim that

> his triple convictions for a single act of vaginal penetration and his dual convictions for a single act of oral penetration are contrary to the legislative intent and violate the principles of <u>Carawan v. State</u>, **515** So.2d 161 (Fla. **1987**) and (itsprogeny).

Petitioner'sbrief, p. 15.

While the evidence showed two discreet acts of sexual battery by penile penetration of Karaka vagina, e.g., once with Slaughter on top of her, and another with Karaka on top (T 54-55), Slaughter was only charged with one count each of sexual battery by penetrating her vagina with his penis (Count 11), sexual activity by penetrating her vagina with his penis while in a familial or custodial authority (CountV), and incest (Count VIII). Neither the Information nor the Verdict form identify which act a particular count refers. In the opinion below, the court noted the commission of both acts and held, "<u>Carawan</u> is therefore no impediment to separate convictions and sentences for each of those attacks as charged in Counts II and V of the Information." <u>Slaughter v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 509, 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (footnote omitted). Thus, Slaughter's argument at page 15 of his brief that he was thrice convicted and sentenced for a "single act of vaginal penetration" is an inaccurate statement. But were it otherwise, such multiple convictions, as well as his dual convictions for sexual battery and sexual activity by a person in a familial or custodial authority arising out of a single act of oral penetration, are authorized under the law for the following reasons:

The legislature abolished the "single-transaction" rule in 1983 by enacting Ch. 83-156(1), Laws of Fla., which codified the so-called "Blockburger rule." See, e.g., Sec. 775.021(4), Fla. Stat. In <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed.2d 306 (1932), the court held that a single act may be an offense against two statutes if "each statute requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not." 284 U.S. at 304, 76 L.Ed.2d at 309.

In <u>Carawan</u>, the majority reached its decision by stating that the so-called "rule of lenity" prohibited multiple convictions for crimes arising "out of a single evil." In

- 6 -

response, the legislature enacted Ch. 88-131(7), Laws of Fla., which amended Sec. 775.021, and reaffirmed its intent that multiple offenses were to be measured by the "Blockburger rule" and not the rule of lenity.

This latest amendment was not a substantive change in the law, but merely "explains the meaning of 775.021(4)(a)." <u>State</u> <u>v. Barritt</u>, 531 So.2d 338, 341 (Fla. 1988) (f/n 1; J. Shaw specially concurring). This court has held that courts "will show great deference" to laws passed to clarify existing law. <u>Lanier v. State</u>, 464 So.2d 1192, 1193 (Fla. 1985). See also, <u>Lowery v. Parole and Probation Commission</u>, 473 So.2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1985), wherein this court stated,

> When...an amendment to a statute is enacted soon after controversies as to the interpretation of the original act arise, a court may consider that amendment as a legislative interpretation of the original law and not as a substantive change thereof.

Applying the "Blockburger rule" to the instant facts,

It is quite clear that such test is satisfied, for the crime of sexual battery under Section 794.011(5) requires the use of physical force and violence which is not an element of the crime of engaging in sexual activity by a person in familial authority under Section 794.041(2)(b); and the latter crime requires as an element that the offender be in familial authority over the victim which is not a requirement of Section 794.011(5).

Slaughter, supra., at 511.

Furthermore, incest under Sec. 826.04, Fla. Stat., is limited to "sexual intercourse" within a narrowly defined relationship. Neither such limitation is present in the crimes of sexual battery or sexual activity by a person in familial authority; nor, are physical force and violence, nor familial authority elements of incest.

Slaughter candidly admits that "each offense contains an element that the other does not" (Petition, p. 14); ergo, as stated in <u>State v. Barritt</u>, <u>supra</u>., at **340** (Fla. 1988) (J. Shaw, specially concurring), "Application of section 775.021(4) ends the inquiry and resolves the case."

## ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPROPERLY ASSESS VICTIM INJURY POINTS IN THE SENTENCING GUIDELINE SCORESHEET.

The sentencing guideline scoresheet prepared in this case includes 20 points for "contact but no penetration" and 80 points for "penetration or slight injury" under the "Victim injury" category (R 102). Slaughter argues that this is erroneous and requires resentencing on the ground that the amendment to the Committee Note to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(7), which added language that each count of a victim's injury should be scored, occurred subsequent to the instant offenses and, therefore, do not apply to him; and, that his scoresheet should reflect only 40 points.

Slaughter's claim must fail for the following reason:

At the time of the subject amendment, Rule 3.701(d)(7) provided that

Victim injury shall be scored if it is an element of any offenses at conviction.

In <u>The Florida Bar: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure</u>, 468 So.2d 220 (Fla. 1985), the Supreme Court approved certain changes to the sentencing guidelines, including the Committee Note cited by Appellant,

> to <u>clarify</u> that victim injury is to be scored for each victim and each occurrence in excess of one where the same victim is

involved. The present text of the rule has caused confusion.

Id., footnote at 221 (emphasis supplied).

This clarification was repeated again in <u>The Florida Bar Re</u>: <u>Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines 3.701, 3.9881,</u> 482 So.2d 311 (Fla. 1985), which was approved by the legislature in Ch. 86-273, Laws of Florida. <u>See</u>, Sec. 921.0015, Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.).

Thus, the amendment merely <u>clarified</u> an existing rule, not changed it. Accordingly, Slaughter's reliance upon <u>Miller v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 423, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987), is misplaced. That case held that applying a <u>change</u> in the sentencing guidelines subsequent to the commission of the offense and which results in a harsher penalty is violative of the ex post facto clause of the United States Constitution.

Slaughter's reliance upon this court's recent opinion in <u>Fennell v. State</u>, 14 FLW 265 (Fla., June 1, 1989), is also misplaced. There, this court held that the amendment to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(7), which <u>changed</u> the requirement that victim injury can only be scored when such injury is an element of the offense, could not be applied retroactively to crimes committed prior to the effective date of such amendment.

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in scoring a total of 100 points for victim injury in Slaughter's sentencing guideline scoresheet.

- 10 -

#### ISSUE III

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ALLOWING THE INTRODUCTION OF SIMILAR FACT EVIDENCE.

Prior to trial, the State served notice of its intent to introduce evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts, to-wit: "multiple acts of Lewd and Lascivious Assault upon K Slaughter...by touching and/or fondling (her)breast and vaginal areas...." (R58-59).

During the trial, Karana testified, without objection, that when she was a little girl, and while her mother worked nights, her father would put her in bed with him and rub her breasts and vagina. This same fondling continued after her parents divorced and during her father'svisitation periods (T 40-46).

While Slaughter apparently moved in limine to prevent this testimony (T 6-9), he did not timely object when the testimony was presented, even though cautioned by the trial court to do so (T 10-11). "The rule requiring a contemporaneous objection at trial under such circumstances is firmly established." <u>Crespo v.</u> State, 379 So.2d 191 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

Therefore, this issue has not been preserved for review; but, even if it had been, the similar fact evidence was admissible for the following reason: Sec. 90.404(2)(a), Fla. Stat., provides that similar fact evidence is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue. The true test is relevancy. Once this threshold has been met, it matters not whether such evidence is prejudicial, <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 265 So.2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1972); or, even necessary to prove the charged offense. <u>Ruffin v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 277, 279 (Fla. 1981).

As noted by Judge Campbell in <u>Rush v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 527, 529 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981),

Sexual molestation cases by their very nature, occur, more often than not in seclusion without other witnesses present.

Thus, use of collateral crime evidence in these cases is held to be

simply relevant to corroborate the victim's testimony, and (its) probative value outweighs its prejudicial effect.

Heuring v. State, 513 So.2d 122, 125 (Fla. 1987).

Slaughter claims <u>Heuring</u> is inapplicable since "no other witness corroborated her testimony about the prior acts." Petitioner's brief, p. 28. Slaughter also takes the remarkable position that since the court in <u>Heuring</u>

> focus(ed) upon the corroborative value of similar fact evidence, the Court implicitly rejected other justifications for admitting this type of evidence, such as pattern of criminality.

Petitioner's brief, p. 30-31. The recent opinion of <u>Smith v.</u> <u>State</u>, 538 So.2d 66 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), resolves both claims in favor of the State, e.g.,

Evidence of prior, similar sex acts with a minor victim is admissible, where the relevancy test is met, to show a pattern of conduct. Section 90.404(2), Fla. Stat. (1987); Gibbs v. State, 394 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1st DCA), aff'd 406 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 1981). Appellant here argues that the rule applies only where the testimony is from a witness other than the victim. We do not agree. Evidence that deals only with similar sex acts against the victim in the case being tried is far less subject to objection than evidence of similar acts against other victims. 394. So.2d at 232.

Id., at 67 (emphasis in original).

Slaughter also claims that "(t)he prior bad acts became a feature of the trial and were highly prejudicial." Petitioner's brief, **p.** 34. Such claim must fail for the following reasons:

First, the State prosecutor's opening statement includes four typed pages of the trial transcript (T 17-20); however, her reference to the similar fact evidence takes no more than onehalf of one page (T 18). In addition, the trial court gave two cautionary instructions to the jury that an "opening statement is not evidence" (T 12, 22).

Secondly, the similar fact evidence takes only portions of seven pages (T40-46) of some 240 pages of trial testimony (T32-270). Thirdly, the prosecutor's closing argument accounts for more than 30 of the transcript (T 272-294, 314-324); yet, Slaughter can only identify portions of six pages of the prosecutor's closing argument that even remotely touch upon the similar fact evidence. Petitioner's brief, p. 35.

In <u>Snowden v. State</u>, 14 FLW 257, 260 (f/n 4) (Fla. 3d DCA, January 24, 1989), the court noted, "it follows, of course, that a relatively small amount of similar fact evidence will not by itself be deemed to infringe upon defendant's fair trial right.''

In Snowden, the court held that

The similar fact evidence introduced in this case was not a needless attack on the defendant's character. It did not become a feature of the case in any respect, and its introduction did not. transcend its relevance.

 $\underline{Id}$ , at 260. Crucial to this holding, in addition to the small amount of similar fact evidence introduced at trial, was the court's observation that

Both the State's and the defendant's closing arguments centered on the acts charged in the information and the credibility of (one of the sex abuse victims)...(and) both counsel's arguments reminded the jury that their duty was limited to deciding the narrow question of the defendant's guilt.

<u>Id.</u>, at 259.

So it is in the present case. The introduction of Slaughter's "lifetime" sexual molestation of his daughter did not become a "feature" of the case, was not a needless attack on his character, and did not transcend its relevance.

## CONCLUSION

Based upon the record, argument and citation of authorities, the decision in <u>Slaughter v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) must be approved.